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COOK COUNTY COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS 
69 West Washington, Suite 3040 

Chicago, Illinois 60602 

 

Alicia ARROYO, Complainant 

v.  

FOR EYES OPTICAL, Respondent 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

 

Case No. 2012E035 

 

ORDER 

 

 

Complainant Alicia Arroyo (“Arroyo”) brought this action on November 26, 2012 against 

her former employer, Respondent For Eyes Optical (“Respondent” or “For Eyes”), for unlawful 

employment discrimination on the basis of a disability in violation of Section 42-35(b)(1) of the 

Cook County Code of Ordinances (“County Code”).  Arroyo alleged that she took several days 

off of work after being diagnosed with shingles and then was denied the opportunity to return to 

work and was terminated.  Compl., ¶ II.  This Commission dismisses Arroyo’s complaint 

because a temporary illness, such as shingles, is not a disability for the purpose of the protections 

set out in Section 42-35(b)(1) of the County Code. 

Background 

Arroyo alleges that she began working for For Eyes on or around February 8, 2012 as an 

optometric assistant.
1
  Compl., ¶ I.  Although she had been employed for less than a year, 

documentation provided by Respondent shows that Arroyo requested and received leave from 

May 8, 2012 to June 25, 2012 in connection with the birth of a child.
2
  See Resp. Pos. Stat., Exhs. 

10, 12.   

Approximately two months after returning to work, on August 27, 2012, Arroyo alleges 

that her direct supervisor observed a rash on Arroyo’s forearm and sent her to the hospital.  

Compl., ¶ II(A).  An emergency room physician diagnosed this rash as shingles.  Id. at ¶ II(B).  

According to the U.S. Center for Disease Control, shingles is a “painful rash . . . [that] forms 

blisters that typically scab over in 7-10 days and clears up within 2-4 weeks.”
3
 

                                                           
1
 Respondent alleges that Arroyo’s employment began slightly earlier, on or about January 31, 2012, as an optical 

salesperson and specified that she worked at the For Eyes retail location at 7107 West Dempster Street, Niles, Illinois.  

Resp. Pos. Stat., p. 6.  

2
 For Eyes has a policy that allows employees to obtain one 30-day period of leave per calendar year for medical leave 

with supporting documentation from a physician.  See Resp. Pos. Stat., Exhs. 8, 11. 

3
 Center for Disease Control and Prevention, “Shingles (Herpes Zoster,” online at 

http://www.cdc.gov/shingles/about/symptoms.html (visited Sept. 12, 2013). 
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There are several unresolved factual disputes at this stage of the Commission’s 

investigation, but both parties agree that Arroyo provided For Eyes with documentation from her 

physicians indicating that she needed several weeks off of work.  Arroyo alleges that she 

provided For Eyes with medical documentation that had a return to work date of September 11, 

2012.  Compl., ¶ II(D).  Documentation from Arroyo’s physicians (provided by Respondent) 

does not include a specific return to work date but For Eyes internal human resources paperwork 

lists Arroyo’s return to work date as September 17, 2012.  See Resp. Pos. Stat., Exhs. 15-17. 

The parties do not agree about what occurred after Arroyo’s initial first few weeks of 

Shingles-related leave (ending either September 11, 2012 or September 17, 2012).  Arroyo 

alleges that she attempted to return to work, and her direct supervisor denied her the opportunity to 

do so.  Compl., ¶ II(D).  Respondent contends that rather than return to work, Arroyo once again 

attempted to provide it with medical documentation to extend her leave—now well beyond the 

company’s 30-day policy for non-FMLA eligible employees—and never returned after the 

expiration of this additional leave period.
4
  See Resp. Pos. Stat., p. 7.   

Either way, there is no dispute that Arroyo was terminated on September 29, 2012.  

Compl., ¶ II(E); Resp. Pos. Stat., Exh. 19. 

Discussion 

The Cook County Human Rights Ordinance (the “Human Rights Ordinance”) prohibits an 

employer, inter alia, from discriminating against any individual in discharge or discipline “on the 

basis of unlawful discrimination.”  County Code, § 42-35(b)(1).  The Human Rights Ordinance 

defines “unlawful discrimination” to include discrimination on the basis of actual or perceived 

“disability” and then defines “disability” as: 

(1) A physical or mental impairment that substantially limits 

one or more of the major life activities of an individual; 

(2) A record of such an impairment; or 

(3) Being regarded as having such an impairment. Excluded 

from this definition is an impairment relating to the illegal 

use, possession or distribution of “controlled substances” as 

defined in schedules I through V of the Controlled 

Substances Act (21 U.S.C. § 812). 

County Code, § 42-31.
5
  The Commission’s procedural rules state that the central term, “physical 

                                                           
4
 Although Respondent purports to provide documentation supporting this allegation to the Commission, this 

documentation appears to have been inadvertently omitted from Respondent’s Position Statement.  See Resp. Pos. 

Stat., Exh. 18.  

5
 This definition is a nearly verbatim replication of the definition of “disability” under the federal Americans with 

Disabilities Act (“ADA”).  See 42 U.S.C. § 12102(2).  The Commission treats authority interpreting the ADA as 

persuasive, though not binding, in its interpretation of the Human Rights Ordinance.  CCHR Pro. R. 620.100. 




